IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 81,263

JACK TIMOTHY TOWNSEND,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #410519 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Townsend was charged with Sexual Battery on a Person Less than Twelve (12) Years of Age (R 798). Townsend filed a motion to determine the competency of the child victim (R 732). The State stipulated that the child was incompetent to testify (R 773). The State filed notices of intent to introduce hearsay testimony (R 732, 736, 743, 793, 842). A hearing was held to determine whether the child was unavailable as a witness. The trial court ruled the witness was available and the State could not admit hearsay (R 772, 773).

The State sought certiorari review of the trial court's order denying its motions to introduce hearsay statements under section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes (1987), based upon a finding that the child victim was available to testify. The Fifth District Court of Appeal granted certiorari review, quashed the order of the trial court, and remanded for further proceedings. <u>State v. Townsend</u>, 556 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) ("Townsend I").

The case proceeded to trial, and Townsend was convicted as charged (R 846). He appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, raising the following issues:

> 1. The trial court erred in failing to make specific factual findings regarding the admissibility of child hearsay under section 90.802(23), Florida Statutes;

> 2. The trial court erred in finding sufficient corroborative evidence of sexual abuse in order to admit the child's hearsay into evidence;

3. The trial court erred in admitting the specific child hearsay statements

- 1 -

because the time, content and circumstances of the statements do not provide sufficient indicia of reliability;

4. Dr. Medea Woods was not sufficiently qualified to give an expert opinion in the diagnosis of sexually abused children;

5. At trial Dr. Medea Woods impermissibly gave her opinion that the defendant committed a sexual battery on the child;

6. It was reversible error for Dr. Medea Woods to comment on the credibility of the child at trial;

7. The inadmissible testimony of Dr. Medea Woods constituted fundamental error.

The Fifth District Court of Appeals, en banc, reversed and remanded to the trial court for a new trial. <u>Townsend v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly (Fla. 5th DCA January 29, 1993) ("Townsend II"). Four of the appellate judges concurred in the decision. Four concurred specially and wrote four separate opinions. The majority receded from <u>Townsend I</u>, holding that incompetency under section 90.603, Florida Statutes, does not render a witness unavailable under section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes, receding from <u>Townsend I</u>. The majority also found the procedure used in the case "may have violated" Townsend's rights under the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment.

The Fifth District certified the following question:

DOES Α FINDING OF INCOMPETENCY TO TESTIFY BECAUSE ONE IS UNABLE TO RECOGNIZE THE DUTY AND OBLIGATION TO TELL THE TRUTH SATISFY THE LEGISLATIVE "TESTIFY OR BEUNAVAILABLE" REQUIREMENT OF SECTION 90.803(23)(A)(2)?

- 2 -

The Fifth District also directed the trial judge to (1) revisit the issue of whether the child may be unavailable because of the likelihood of severe mental or emotional harm and make specific findings; and (2) consider whether such statements are clothed with such reliability that the defendant's right to confrontation is superfluous. Townsend II.

The State filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction. This court postponed the decision on jurisdiction and set a briefing schedule.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u>: The District Court erred in reversing on an issue which was not raised on appeal and not preserved at the trial level.

<u>POINT II</u>: A witness who is incompetent to testify is "unavailable" for purposes of section 90.803(23). The reasoning of the District Court that unvailability due to "then existing" mental or physical infirmity is flawed. Even if the reasoning is not flawed, competency is determined at the time of trial and incompetency is a "then existing" condition.

Whether admission of the hearsay statements was POINT III: appropriate because they were reliable was not preserved for appellate review and cannot form the basis for reversal. This court in Perez rejected the view that the Confrontation Clause bars the use of hearsay statements when the declarant is unavailable for cross-examination. The trial judge complied with the requirements of Idaho v. Wright in finding the time, content and circumstances showed the statements were reliable and in ruling on each Error, if any, was harmless since any individual statement. excludable statement was cumulative to statements which were admissible.

for written findings if no need POINT IV: There is "unavailable" under section a witness incompetency makes The District Court had already found the witness 90.803(23). section 90.803(23) since the psychologist "unavailable" under testified there would be substantial harm if the child testified. The factual findings of the trial court were adequate under the circumstances.

- 4 -

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ADDRESSING AN ISSUE NOT RAISED ON APPEAL AND NOT PRESERVED AT TRIAL.

The majority opinion of the District Court based reversal on the issue regarding incompetency under section 90.603, Florida Statutes, not satisfying the requirements of section 90.803(23) Florida Statutes, for unavailability. This issue was not raised on appeal, and the District Court had no jurisdiction to reverse on this basis.

Furthermore, the issue was not preserved at the trial level. Townsend did raise the issue of the trial judge's factual findings as to the admissibility of the hearsay statements, citing the following hearsay statements that were introduced at trial:

> 1. Statements by child's mother, Ronda Bordac (R 278, 283);

> 2. Statements by HRS social worker, Thelma Diaz (R 320-322);

> 3. Statements by babysitter, Kathy Nabbie (R 400-401, 403);

4. Statements by aunt, Lurinda Maria Chang-Fane (R 438-39);

5. Statement by psychologist, Dr. Medea Woods (R 478).

There was no objection to the admissibility of the statements, and this issue was not preserved for appellate review. <u>Steinhorst v.</u> <u>State</u>, 412 So. 2d 322 (Fla. 1982); <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978). Neither did defense counsel object when the trial judge announced his ruling on the admissibility of the statements (SR1¹ 3-7). The District Court should have never reversed on this issue, and this court is respectfully requested to rectify this error.

 $^{^{\}rm l}$ There are two supplemental records which are designation "SR1" and "SR2".

POINT II

A WITNESS WHO IS INCOMPETENT TO TESTIFY UNDER SECTION 90.603, FLORIDA STATUTES, IS UNAVAILABLE TO TESTIFY UNDER SECTION 90.803(23), FLORIDA STATUTES.

The District Court erred in receding from Townsend I. The reason cited for receding from the prior decision was based on The cited language in Perez v. State, 536 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 1988). The cited language does not support the District Court's decision. language states that if a witness is incompetent to testify, his hearsay statements may still be introduced. Id. at 210-11, cited in Townsend II at 18 Fla. L. Weekly D390-91. The District Court's reliance on Perez is error. Perez holds, inter alia, that the trial judge does not have to determine competency to testify in order to allow hearsay statements under section 90.803(23). Id. at 210. Perez does not speak to the issue at hand, i.e., whether a determination of incompetency to testify necessarily includes a determination the witness is unavailable under section 90.803(23).

Section 90.603, Florida Statutes (1987) provides that a person is disqualified as a witness when the court determines that he is:

> (1) Incapable of expressing himself concerning the matter in such a manner as to be understood, either directly or through interpretation by one who can understand him.

> (2) Incapable of understanding the duty of a witness to tell the truth.

The parties stipulated the child victim was disqualified because she was not able to understand the duty or obligation to tell the truth because of her chronological age. <u>Townsend I</u> at 818. In

- 7 -

Townsend I, the District Court found that this infirmity satisfied the test of unavailability under the statutory definition of section 90.804(1). Section 90.803(23) incorporates the definition section 90.804(1). section "unavailability" from See of definition of "unavailability" in section 90.803(23)b. The 90.804(1) includes:

> (d) Is unable to be present or testify at the hearing because of death or because of then existing physical or mental illness or infirmity.

The District Court in <u>Townsend II</u> construed the language "then existing" as requiring a condition arising <u>after</u> the purported hearsay statements. <u>Id</u>. at D390. As pointed out in Judge Sharp's concurring opinion, there is no basis for such a restrictive reading of the statute. <u>Id</u>. at D392. Obviously, if a witness is incompetent to testify because of chronological age, he has a "then existing" physical or mental infirmity which precludes him from testifying. To say that the physical or mental infirmity must arise after the statement is made decimates the entire hearsay exception of section 90.803(23) since, as Judge Sharp observes, the statements of very young children and mentally defective children who are most vulnerable to sexual abuse would be excluded.

Even if the reasoning of the District Court was correct and the analysis of availability occurs at time of trial, competency is also determined at the time of trial and incompetency equates to unavailability. Competency focuses on the mental capacity of the witness at the time he is offered as a witness at trial rather than at the time the facts testified to occured. Ehrhardt, <u>Florida</u>

- 8 -

Evidence, §603.1 (1992 Edition, p. 326); Griffin v. State, 526 So. 2d 752, 755 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

The State's position is consistent with the Supreme Court decision in in which the Court found that a child who had been ruled incapable of cummunicating with the jury was "unavailable" within the meaning of the Confrontation Clause. <u>Id</u>., 110 S.Ct. at 3147.

Additionally, the District Court held in Townsend I that the trial court had erred in finding the child victim available under section 90.803(23). Id. at 818. The District Court recognized in Townsend II that it had held the trial court erred in concluding the child was available under section 90.803(23). In other words, the District Court in Townsend I told the trial court the child was unavailable under section 90.803(23), recognized this ruling in Townsend II, then ignored the fact that in addition to being incompetent to testify, the District Court had already ruled the child unavailable testify under to the definition of "unavailability" for section 90.803(23).

The State respectfully requests this honorable court rectify the error of the District Court by reversing the opinion in <u>Townsend II</u> and approving the opinion in <u>Townsend I</u>, or alternatively, in finding the child had already been determined by the District Court to be unavailable under section 90.803(23).

- 9 -

POINT III

ADMISSION OF THE HEARSAY STATEMENTS DID NOT VIOLATE TOWNSEND'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION AS GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH AMENDMENT.

The District Court additionally found that "the procedure used in this case may have violated Townsend's rights under the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment as interpreted by the Supreme Court in <u>Idaho v. Wright</u>, 497 U.S. 804, 110 S.Ct. 3139, 111 L.Ed.2d 638 (1990)". Townsend II, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D391.

First, this issue was never raised in the trial court, and there was no objection to the statements either when the trial court ruled them admissible or when they were introduced. This issue was not preserved for appellate review and the District Court erred in ruling on the issue. <u>See Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

Second, this court has rejected the view that the confrontation clause bars the use of any out-of-court statements when the declarant is unavailable for cross-examination. Perez v. State, 536 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 1988). The trial court held a hearing to determine whether the time, content and circumstances of the child hearsay statements rendered them admissible (SR2 1-70). The trial judge announced his rulings on the admissibility of the hearsay statements (SR1 1-8). The trial judge made factual findings that section 90.803(23) the time, content, and circumstances under reliability sufficient safeguards of (R 425) provided Additionally, the trial judge made individual findings of reliability as to each statement (SRI 4, 5, 6). The findings met

- 10 -

the procedural requirements of <u>Idaho v. Wright</u>, 497 U.S. 805, 110 S.Ct. 3139, 111 L.Ed.2d 638 (1990).

Even if it was error to admit the hearsay statements of the mother, babysitter and HRS worker, the statements of the aunt had been determined reliable² and the statement of Dr. Woods was admissible under the medical diagnosis statute, section 90.803(4), so error, if any, was harmless. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1987).

Although not clear whether the Confrontation Clause issue was a basis for reversal, the District Court erred in finding Townsend's rights "may have been violated".

 $^{^2\,}$ During the testimony of the aunt the trial judge stated "this probably is more reliable than any other statements previously given" (R 425).

POINT IV

THE TRIAL JUDGE'S FINDINGS OF FACT WERE ADEQUATE UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES.

In reversing and remanding, the District Court directed the trial court to revisit the issue of whether the child was unavailable under section 90.803(23). Since, as argued in Point II. the witness' incompetency satisfies the requirement of "unavailability" for purpose of section 90.803(23), there is no need for written findings. Furthermore, the District Court in Townsend I told the trial court it had previously erred in finding the witness available and in misconstruing the psychologist's testimony to the contrary. The District Court reiterated this finding in Townsend II. Therefore, the trial court's findings after an extensive hearing (SR2 1-70) that the requirements of section 90.803(23) were met were adequate under the circumstances. If the District Court was implying this was a basis for reversal, the State respectfully requests this honorable court correct the District Court's error.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, the petitioner respectfully requests this honorable court answer the certified question in the affirmative and reverse the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.