# APR 23 1993

FILED SID J. WHITE

BLERK, SUPREME COURT

By\_\_\_\_\_Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Petitioner,

v.

~

- .1

·" 、-

CASE NO. 81,263

JACK TIMOTHY TOWNSEND,

Appellant/Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_/

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES G. KONTOS Law Firm of Daniel S. Ciener Fla. Bar #788554 255 N.Grove Street, Suite A Merritt Island, FL 32953 (407) 452-2433

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

Cross appeal not filed

#

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

**ARGUMENT II:** Unavailability under the Child Hearsay Statute, section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes (1987), does not equate to incompetence under section 90.603, Florida Statutes, because the unavailability subsections all require an event or condition to have occurred after the hearsay had been uttered and assume the competency of the declarant at the time the statement was made.

**ARGUMENT III:** The defendant was denied his right of confrontation because he was never given the chance to establish through cross-examination of the child the defense that the child was manipulated and coached.

ARGUMENT IV: Section 90.803(23)(c), Florida Statutes, requires that the trial court make specific findings of fact on the record to support the introduction of child's hearsay into evidence. In the instant case, the trial court did not make specific factual findings. The trial court's oral order merely restated the conclusory language of the statute. Therefore, the child's hearsay statements should not have been admitted in the defendant's trial. **ARGUMENT V:** The hearsay statements repeated by Dr. Woods were not admissible under the medical diagnosis exception to the hearsay rule because there was no showing that the child knew that the statements were made for the purpose of diagnosis or treatment.

**ARGUMENT VI:** The errors that occurred in the defendant's case were not harmless because the evidence was not overwhelming.

ARGUMENT VII: Section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes, and the Confrontation Clause of the United States and Florida Constitutions, requires that the time, content and circumstances of child hearsay statements provide particularized guarantees of trustworthiness before they can be admitted into evidence. In the instant case, these circumstances did not provide sufficient indicia of reliability to allow the statements to be admitted into evidence. Therefore, the admissions of the statements at the defendant's trial was error.

**ARGUMENT VIII:** At the defendant's trial Dr. Medea Woods, Psy.D., was qualified as an expert in clinical psychology and the diagnosis and treatment of sexually abused children. This qualification was error as the facts testified to by Dr. Woods indicated she was not an expert in the area of the diagnosis of sexually abused children.

ARGUMENT IX: An expert witness is not permitted to give her opinion that the defendant committed the crime he is on trial for. In the instant case, Dr. Woods, on several occasions, gave her opinion that the defendant had sexually abused the child. After two of these comments the defendant

#### Page 3

3

moved for a mistrial. The denial of the defendant's motion for mistrial and the admission of the Doctor's inadmissible opinion was reversible error.

ARGUMENT X: An expert witness is not permitted to comment on the credibility of another witness in a case. In the instant case, Dr. Woods commented on the credibility of the alleged child victim. As Dr. Woods had continually related the child's actions and statements which supported her conclusion that the child had been sexually abused by the defendant the effect of this testimony denied the defendant a fair trial.

ARGUMENT XI: There were numerous unobjected to statements of Dr. Woods which were inadmissible. These statements included: unresponsive answers; prejudicial remarks; irrelevant testimony; and hearsay which had previously been ruled inadmissible by the trial court. The cumulative effect of this testimony denied the defendant a fair trial.

## ARGUMENT I

# THERE WAS NO ERROR IN THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT ADDRESSING THE ISSUE CERTIFIED TO THIS COURT.

Petitioner in it's initial argument states that the District Court based it's reversal of the defendant's conviction on an issue not raised on appeal and that therefore the District Court was "without jurisdiction to reverse on this basis." (Petitioner's Initial Brief, p. 5). Petitioner, however, cites no law in support of this position.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal did precisely what an appellate court should do: it evaluated the facts of the defendant's case through the trial transcripts, briefs and oral argument; applied the law to these facts; and issued an opinion that was just and correct. It would be manifestly unjust for an appellate court to let a prior, incorrect ruling of law stay in effect when the same case in which that incorrect ruling of law was issued is again before the appellate court.

Furthermore, the appellate court in <u>Townsend v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 534 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), (<u>Townsend II</u>), was on notice of the issue petitioner claims it reversed on. This precise issue had been decided in the previous appeal by the state in this same case. <u>State v. Townsend</u>, 556 So.2d 817 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), (<u>Townsend I</u>). Also, a significant amount of time was spent in a discussion of <u>Townsend I</u> during oral arguments in <u>Townsend II</u>. Therefore, this issue was properly before the appellate court. The Fifth District Court of Appeals also based it's reversal of the defendant's conviction on two additional grounds: the failure of the trial court to make sufficient factual findings on the record to support the admission of the child hearsay statements; and the failure of the introduction of hearsay in this case to meet Confrontation Clause requirements. <u>Townsend II</u>, at footnote 2, 535, 538, 539. Both of these issues were also raised by appellant in his appeal. Thus, even if the issue petitioner refers to had not been properly raised, the appellate court could provide additional reasons for it's reversal of the defendant's convictions just as a trial judge's correct ruling of law can be upheld on grounds never raised before that judge.

Finally, the error corrected by the Fifth District Court of Appeal was of such a magnitude as to constitute fundamental error, therefore making any objection or raising of the issue unnecessary.

Petitioner further argues that "this issue was not preserved at the trial level." (Petitioner's Initial Brief, p. 5). If petitioner is referring to the issue that the District Court certified to this Court, petitioner is incorrect. This issue was raised by defendant's trial counsel in a pre-trial motion and was the basis of the state's appeal and appellate court's decision in <u>Townsend I</u>.

If, however, petitioner is referring to the failure to object to the inadequacy of the trial judge's factual findings, respondent relies on the argument made to the Fifth District Court of Appeals: that the individual and cumulative effect of all the errors in respondent's trial

rose to the level of fundamental error. <u>Cf. Fuller v.</u> <u>State</u>, 540 So.2d 182 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), [The cumulative effect of unobjected errors can be so fundamental as to require reversal.]

## ARGUMENT II

# THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT A FINDING OF INCOMPETENCE UNDER SECTION 90.603, FLORIDA STATUTES, DOES NOT EQUATE TO A FINDING OF UNAVAILABILITY UNDER SECTIONS 90.803(23) AND 90.804, FLORIDA STATUTES.

Assuming this Court accepts jurisdiction in this case the question before it is that question certified by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Townsend v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 534 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993):

DOES A FINDING OF INCOMPETENCY TO TESTIFY BECAUSE ONE IS UNABLE TO RECOGNIZE THE DUTY AND OBLIGATION TO TELL THE TRUTH SATISFY THE LEGISLATIVE "TESTIFY OR BE UNAVAILABLE" REQUIREMENT OF SECTION 90.803(23)(A)(2)?

The answer to this question is and should be NO and the analysis of Judge Harris in <u>Townsend II</u> should be adopted by this Court.

Section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes (1987), provides that child hearsay describing sexual abuse is admissible if:

- 2. The child either:
- a. Testifies; or
- b. Is unavailable as a witness . . . . Unavailability shall include a finding by the court that the child's participation in the trial or proceeding would result in a substantial likelihood of severe emotional or mental harm, in addition to findings pursuant to s. 90.804(1)

Thus, the legislature has determined that a child is unavailable for the purposes of section 90.803(23) under any one of six situations: the "substantial likelihood of severe

# emotional or mental harm" of 90.803(23), and the five definitions in section 90.804(1). The definition relied upon by petitioner to support it's contention that "incompetence" is also "unavailability" is section 90.804(1)(d), Florida Statutes, which states:

"Unavailability as a witness" means that the declarant:

(d) Is unable to be present or to testify at the hearing because of death or because of then existing physical or mental illness or infirmity.

To understand the meaning of the words "then existing," and the intent of this subsection, it is necessary to read subsection (d) in conjunction with the other four subsections of section 90.804(1).

The other four definitions of unavailability of section 90.804(1) all relate to a condition or event that did not exist at the time the statement was made, but rather relate to a condition or event occurring <u>after</u> the uttering of the hearsay. These definitions are as follows:

"Unavailability as a witness" means that the declarant:

- (a) Is exempted by a ruling of a court on the ground of privilege from testifying concerning the subject matter of his statement;
- (b) Persists in refusing to testify concerning the subject matter of his statement despite an order of the court to do so;
- (c) Has suffered a lack of memory of the subject matter of his statement so as to destroy his effectiveness as a witness during the trial;
- (e) Is absent from the hearing, and the proponent of his statement has been unable to procure his attendance or testimony by process or other reasonable means.

Section (a) refers to a ruling of the court which could only have occurred <u>after</u> the uttering of the hearsay. Similarly, a refusal to testify (subsection b) would have to be a refusal to testify <u>after</u> a statement had been made, because if there was a refusal to make a statement in the first place that statement would not exist. Subsection (c) also refers to a situation arising <u>after</u> the making of a statement: lack of memory must occur after the making of some statement, because if an individual doesn't remember what to say before he speaks, the statement will never be made. And finally, in subsection (e), the absence of the declarant from a hearing must occur <u>after</u> the statement was made because if the declarant was not present when the statement was supposed to have been made the statement could not have been made.

Merely going through this analysis leads to the conclusion that these subsections can only be understood if they are read to require some event occurring <u>after</u> the uttering of the hearsay statement. Thus, by reading the other four subsections of section 90.804(1), it becomes clear that the legislative intent in enacting this entire section (including subsection (d)) was to allow for the admissibility of hearsay when some event or condition occurring <u>after</u> the uttering of the hearsay rendered the declarant unable or unwilling to testify in court as to the subject matter of the statement.

A close reading of subsection (d) results in the same conclusion. Subsection (d) states that an individual is unavailable if the declarant is "unable to be present or to testify at the hearing because of death or because of then

existing physical or mental illness or infirmity." This subsection provides for two conditions: 1) death, or 2) then existing physical or mental infirmity. As to the first condition, if a death of the declarant has occurred, the death must have been <u>after</u> the uttering of the statement or the statement could not have been uttered. Again, this is a condition which could not have existed at the time the statement was made, but rather occurred after it was uttered. Reading this first condition covered in subsection (d) in conjunction with the second condition leads to the logical conclusion that the legislature also intended the "then existing physical or mental infirmity" to have occurred <u>after</u> the statement was made. Otherwise the legislature would have specifically stated that the physical or mental infirmity could exist at the time the statement was made and would have

Furthermore, if you delete the first condition (death) from the language in subsection (d), the meaning of the remaining language becomes more clear. As modified the statute would read as follows: unavailability as a witness means <u>unable to testify at the hearing because of then</u> <u>existing physical or mental illness or infirmity</u>. The term <u>then existing relates to at the hearing</u> and refers to a condition which has occurred after the statement has been uttered. If petitioner's position were correct there would have been no need for the legislature to include the words <u>then existing</u> in the statute. If the legislature had not included this language the statute would merely say "unable to testify at the hearing because of physical or mental

included this condition in its own separate subsection.

illness or infirmity." This language would have encompassed both a then existing <u>and previously existing</u> illness or infirmity. However, by limiting the statute with the <u>then</u> <u>existing</u> language the legislature made it's intent clear: the illness or infirmity must have occurred <u>after</u> the statement was made and must exist at the time of the hearing.

Thus, an analysis of the clear language of subsection (d); a comparison of the two conditions contemplated in subsection (d); and a comparison of all the other subsections of 90.804(1), result in the logical conclusion that subsection (d) refers to a condition which did not exist at the time the statement was made but that occurred at some time afterwards. This analysis also supports Judge Harris' statement in <u>Townsend II</u> that "all the section 90.804 definitions of unavailability . . . assume the competency of the witness." <u>Townsend v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 534, 535 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

What petitioner is asking this Court to do is to rewrite section 90.804(1) to include in its definition of unavailability a finding of incompetency which existed from the time the statement was made until the hearing at which the statement is being offered. Should the legislature desire to do so it will amend section 90.804(1) or 90.803(23) to include this situation that petitioner wishes it to cover. However, until that time, the language of the statute is clear and does not encompass the situation petitioner wishes it did.

In support if it's argument asking this court to rewrite sections 90.804(1) and 90.803(23), petitioner states that a reading of the statute which requires the physical or mental infirmity to arise after the uttering of the hearsay would decimate the entire hearsay exception because the statements of very young children and mentally defective children who are most vulnerable to sexual abuse would be excluded. (Petitioner's Initial Brief, p. 8). This argument, however, is incorrect.

The child hearsay exception remains a very powerful weapon in the prosecutor's arsenal. Children who are unable to testify because the trauma would cause them serious, long term effects can still have their cases prosecuted with the use of their hearsay statements. Furthermore, the hearsay statements of children that fall within the traditional hearsay exceptions, (such as excited utterances and spontaneous statements) are still admissible. Thus, a reading of section 90.804(1) which comports with its plain language and obvious legislative intent, would not have the devastating effect on the prosecution of child sexual abuse cases as petitioner claims. Rather, such a reading ensures that an innocent defendant is not faced with evidence that is impossible for him to confront and refute by means other than denying the charges against him.

Unfortunately, in our society many people manipulate children to say things that are not true; including vindictive ex-wives and actual perpetrators of crimes against children. Once manipulated, a child may then be able to convince other "unbiased" individuals that what she has been told to say is true. Often, the only way to establish the coaching and manipulating of the child is through a skillful cross-examination of the child herself. To rule as petitioner asks this Court to do would deny innocent defendant's what may be their only chance to establish the unreliability of a child's statements against them.

Furthermore, to allow the hearsay statements of an incompetent witness to be presented to the jury results in the very problem articulated by Judge Harris in his opinion in <u>Townsend II</u>. As Judge Harris stated:

> [a suggestion] that hearsay evidence may somehow be better evidence than the direct evidence given by the declarant . . . implies that the direct evidence of the witness which the legislature has mandated the jury not be permitted to hear because of its inherent untrustworthiness, is somehow improved and made more believable (and therefore judicially determined to be admissible) by filtering it through hearsay testimony (often of biased and hostile witnesses). <u>Townsend v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 534, 537 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

To allow the state to proceed in such a manner in cases where child hearsay is the chief evidence against a defendant simply allows the state to present potentially biased and coached statements through more reliable and credible adult witnesses, without allowing the defendant the opportunity to cross-examine the declarant who has been coached and manipulated.

Petitioner further argues that even if Judge Harris is correct, and the analysis of availability must occur at the time of trial, then the hearsay is still admissible because at the time of trial in the instant case the child was incompetent. This argument, however, is incorrect, because a determination of unavailability has two prongs:

1) unavailability at the time of the hearing; and 2) a change in the condition of the declarant that has occurred <u>after</u> the hearsay was uttered and has rendered the declarant unable or unwilling to testify. It is this lack of a <u>change</u> in the condition of the declarant that renders the hearsay inadmissible in the instant case because the declarant was incompetent for the same reason both before and after the hearsay statements were made. Thus, the hearsay statements in the instant case are not admissible under the section 90.804(1) definitions of unavailability.

In support of it's argument petitioner claims it's position is consistent with the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Idaho v. Wright</u>, 497 U.S. 805, 110 S.Ct. 3139, 111 L.Ed.2d 638 (1990), because "the court found that a child who had been ruled incapable of communicating with the jury was 'unavailable' within the meaning of the Confrontation Clause." (Petitioner's Initial Brief, p. 9). A close reading of <u>Wright</u>, however, disputes petitioner's contention.

In <u>Wright</u>, the Supreme Court specifically pointed out that the trial court <u>only</u> determined the child was "not capable of communicating to the jury" and did not make the findings necessary to determine the child <u>incompetent</u> to testify. The court further stated that:

> the more reasonable inference is that, by ruling that the statements were admissible under Idaho's residual hearsay exception, the trial court implicitly found that the younger daughter, at the time she made the statements, was capable of receiving just impressions of the facts and of relating them truly.

This finding of the trial judge in <u>Wright</u> is directly contrary to the facts of the instant case where "the parties stipulated the child victim was disqualified because she was not able to understand the duty or obligation to tell the truth because of her chronological age." (Petitioner's Initial Brief, p. 7). Thus, <u>Wright</u> does not equate incompetency to testify with unavailability and is inconsistent with petitioner's position in the instant case.

Finally, petitioner claims that the Fifth District in both <u>Townsend I</u>, and <u>Townsend II</u>, determined that the child was unavailable under the "substantial likelihood of severe emotional or mental harm" language of section 90.803(23). However, this claim is incorrect. In <u>Townsend II</u>, Judge Harris stated that:

> we did not find this error in the court's evaluation of the credibility of the testimony but rather in the court's reliance on its summary of the psychologist's testimony which was contrary to the psychologist's testimony in the record. Because of this contradiction -- either the court misheard the testimony or the record is inaccurate -- we held that this finding of availability should not stand unless the trial judge reconsidered the issue based on a review of the psychologist's testimony. . . . <u>However</u>, because we felt bound by the dictum in Perez v. State, 536 So.2d 206 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 492 U.S. 923, 109 S.Ct. 2353, 106 L.Ed.2d 599 (1989), we believed the child's unavailability was immaterial and <u>discouraged the</u> trial court from reconsidering the issue of harm to the child if she testified. The issue was therefore not revisited before trial. [Emphasis added] Townsend v. State, 613 So.2d 534, 536 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

Thus, the appellate court did not determine that the child was unavailable due to a substantial likelihood of severe emotional or mental harm, but rather determined that the trial judge should reconsider this issue. However,

reconsideration was unnecessary because the child was unavailable under subsection (d) of 90.804(1). (A ruling receded from in <u>Townsend II</u>.) Therefore, the trial court has never reconsidered the issue of substantial likelihood of severe emotional or mental harm and such a reconsideration is necessary before a finding of unavailability could be sustained.

#### ARGUMENT III

# BASED ON THE FACTS OF THE INSTANT CASE THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT OF CONFRONTATION AS GUARANTEED BY THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS WAS VIOLATED WHEN THE CHILD HEARSAY WAS ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.

Petitioner claims that defendant's failure to raise the Confrontation Clause issue at trial means this issue was not preserved for appellate review. However, respondent relies on the same argument made to the Fifth District Court of Appeals: that the individual and cumulative effect of all the errors in respondent's trial rose to the level of fundamental error. <u>Cf. Fuller v. State</u>, 540 So.2d 182 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), [The cumulative effect of unobjected errors can be so fundamental as to require reversal.]

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